Public Document Pack

North

”‘ Herts

NORTH HERTFORDSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL R counci
21 February 2025 Our Ref Planning Control Committee 6 March 2025

Contact. Committee Services
Direct Dial. (01462) 474655
Email. committee.services@north-herts.gov.uk

To: Members of the Committee: Councillors Elizabeth Dennis (Chair), Nigel Mason (Vice-Chair),
Amy Allen, Sadie Billing, Ruth Brown, Emma Fernandes, lan Mantle, Bryony May,
Caroline McDonnell, Louise Peace, Tom Tyson and Martin Prescott

Substitutes: Councillors Val Bryant, Jon Clayden, Mick Debenham, Joe Graziano,
Keith Hoskins, Steve Jarvis, Sean Nolan and Michael Muir

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN OF A

MEETING OF THE PLANNING CONTROL COMMITTEE

to be held in the

COUNCIL CHAMBER, DISTRICT COUNCIL OFFICES, GERNON
ROAD, LETCHWORTH GARDEN CITY, SG6 3JF

On

THURSDAY, 6TH MARCH, 2025 AT 7.00 PM

Yours sincerely,

Jeanette Thompson
Service Director — Legal and Community


mailto:committee.services@north-herts.gov.uk

Item

*MEMBERS PLEASE ENSURE THAT YOU DOWNLOAD ALL
AGENDAS AND REPORTS VIA THE MOD.GOV APPLICATION
ON YOUR TABLET BEFORE ATTENDING THE MEETING**

Agenda
Part |

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
Members are required to notify any substitutions by midday on the day of the
meeting.

Late substitutions will not be accepted and Members attending as a substitute
without having given the due notice will not be able to take part in the
meeting.

MINUTES 30 JANUARY 2025
To take as read and approve as a true record the minutes of the meeting of
the Committee held on the 30 January 2025.

NOTIFICATION OF OTHER BUSINESS
Members should notify the Chair of other business which they wish to be
discussed at the end of either Part | or Part Il business set out in the agenda.
They must state the circumstances which they consider justify the business
being considered as a matter of urgency.

The Chair will decide whether any item(s) raised will be considered.

CHAIR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS

Members are reminded that any declarations of interest in respect of any
business set out in the agenda, should be declared as either a Disclosable
Pecuniary Interest or Declarable Interest and are required to notify the Chair
of the nature of any interest declared at the commencement of the relevant
item on the agenda. Members declaring a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest
must withdraw from the meeting for the duration of the item. Members
declaring a Declarable Interest, wishing to exercise a ‘Councillor Speaking
Right’, must declare this at the same time as the interest, move to the public
area before speaking to the item and then must leave the room before the
debate and vote.

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION
To receive petitions, comments and questions from the public.

TPO/0215 LAND ON THE NORTH SIDE OF BALDOCK ROAD, ROYSTON,
HERTS, SG8 9NT
REPORT OF THE DEVELOPMENT AND CONSERVATION MANAGER

To consider the confirmation of Tree Preservation Order TPO/00215 (2024).

Page

(Pages 5
- 10)

(Pages
11 - 20)



24/02343/FP CHURCH WOOD, THREE HOUSES LANE, CODICOTE,
HERTFORDSHIRE
REPORT OF THE DEVELOPMENT AND CONSERVATION MANAGER

Change of use of existing site from agricultural to use Class B8 (Storage and
Distribution). Extensions and alterations to existing barns; erection of
detached temporary structure of three years and supporting substation and
concrete base. Installation of hardstanding for outside storage and parking
and installation of electric front entrance gates. Drainage pond and
associated outfall pipe, alterations to surface access track (Development has
commenced).

(Pages
21 - 38)



This page is intentionally left blank



111

112

113

Public Document Pack Agenda Iltem 2

NORTH HERTFORDSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL
PLANNING CONTROL COMMITTEE
MEETING HELD IN THE COUNCIL CHAMBER, DISTRICT COUNCIL OFFICES, GERNON

ROAD, LETCHWORTH GARDEN CITY, SG6 3JF
ON THURSDAY, 30TH JANUARY, 2025 AT 7.30 PM

MINUTES
Present: Councillors: Elizabeth Dennis (Chair), Nigel Mason (Vice-Chair),
Emma Fernandes, Bryony May, Caroline McDonnell, Louise Peace,
Tom Tyson, Martin Prescott, Val Bryant, Jon Clayden and
Mick Debenham.
In Attendance: Peter Bull (Senior Planning Officer), Shaun Greaves (Development and

Conservation Manager), Susan Le Dain (Committee, Member and
Scrutiny Officer), James Lovegrove (Committee, Member and Scrutiny
Manager), Alina Preda (Trainee Solicitor), Callum Reeve (Electoral
Services Assistant) and Sonia Sharp (Locum Senior Planning Solicitor).
Also Present: At the commencement of the meeting approximately 13 members of the
public, including registered speakers.
APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Audio recording — 2 minutes 3 seconds

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Ruth Brown, Amy Allen, lan Mantle and
Sadie Billing.

Having given due notice Councillor Jon Clayden substituted for Councillor Brown, Councillor

Val Bryant substituted for Councillor Allen and Councillor Mick Debenham substituted for Clir

Mantle.

NOTIFICATION OF OTHER BUSINESS

Audio recording — 2 minutes 30 seconds

There was no other business notified.

CHAIR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS

Audio recording — 2 minutes 34 seconds

(1) The Chair advised that, in accordance with Council Policy, the meeting would be recorded.

(2) The Chair drew attention to the item on the agenda front pages regarding Declarations of
Interest and reminded Members that, in line with the Code of Conduct, any Declarations of
Interest needed to be declared immediately prior to the item in question.

(3) The Chair clarified matters for the registered speakers.

(4) The Chair advised that Section 4.8.23(a) of the Constitution applied to the meeting.

Page 5



114

115

Thursday, 30th January, 2025
PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

Audio recording — 5 minutes 14 seconds
The Chair confirmed that the registered speakers were in attendance.

24/01604/FP TEMPLE DINSLEY, (FORMERLY THE PRINCESS HELENA COLLEGE),
SCHOOL LANE, PRESTON, HERTFORDSHIRE, SG4 7RT)

Audio recording — 5 minutes 48 seconds

The Senior Planning Officer provided an update regarding the Supplementary Document that
had been published on 30 January 2025.

At the request of the Chair, the Senior Planning Officer presented the reports in respect of
Application 24/01604/FP and 24/01605/LBC as one presentation, supported by a visual
presentation consisting of photographs and plans.

The following Members asked questions:

Councillor Tom Tyson
Councillor Jon Clayden
Councillor Nigel Mason
Councillor Louise Peace
Councillor Elizabeth Dennis
Councillor Emma Fernandes

In response to questions, the Senior Planning Officer advised that:

e Electric Vehicle (EV) chargers would be fitted in the car ports.
The roof of the sports hall would be fitted with solar tiles.

o Freestanding bathroom ‘pods’ were designed to sit in the middle of a room to minimise
interactions with the existing building and to ensure this remained protected.

¢ No information was yet available on the type of refuse bins to be provided.

Historic England had recommended to include a condition requiring a management
company plan for the whole site be included.

¢ The footpaths would be for public use as part of the Section 106 agreement and would be
secured by boundary fences, as cattle would graze in the open space.

e The section 106 agreement would secure 75 year leases for both the Preston Cricket Club
and the Parish Council to take on responsibility for the sporting facilities and the Council
would not be directly involved in the management of the facilities in the long term.

e The developer and Sport England had confirmed that 19 car parking spaces was sufficient
for cricket use. There was also the possibility of making additional parking available on the
grass verges adjacent to the East Drive if required.

In response to questions, the Development and Conservation Manager advised that:

o As there was no increase in floor space, there was no requirement for the developer to
provide affordable housing as stated in paragraph 65 of the National Planning Policy
Framework (NPPF).

¢ In this application existing vacant floorspace would be replaced with new floorspace, but
with no net increase in floorspace.

Page 6



Thursday, 30th January, 2025

The Chair invited Parish Councillor Margaret Trinder and Andrew Riant to speak in support of
the application. Parish Councillor Trinder thanked the Chair for the opportunity and provided
the Committee with a verbal presentation, including that:

e She was the Chair of Preston Parish Council.

e All buildings on the new site had been sensitively drawn and the new building was
appropriate in size.

e Provision had been made to protect wildlife, in particular barn owls which were of
importance to the community.

e Preston Parish Council wanted to show their appreciation to the developer for keeping
them well informed throughout the application process and to the Senior Planning Officer
for his support in ensuring the views of the Parish Council were understood.

e Temple Dinsley was an important part of the parish.

o The footpaths would ensure that all residents could access the sporting facilities and the
village.

e The 75 year lease on the two tennis courts for community use would ensure that they
could not be removed by a future residents group.

e Preston Parish Council would do their best to promote the use of the sporting facilities for
as much of the year as possible.

e She was accompanied by Andrew Riant, Co-Chair of the Preston Cricket Club who could
answer any points of clarification from Members regarding the development of the cricket
ground and supportive pavilion on the estate.

The following Members asked for points of clarification:

e Councillor Tom Tyson
e Councillor Louise Peace
e Councillor Mick Debenham

In response to points of clarification, Parish Councillor Trinder advised that:

e There were still people living in the village that remembered the levels of traffic from when
the site was a school.

e It was accepted that this development would bring less vehicular traffic to the area and
that this would be staggered throughout the day rather than coinciding with school drop off
and collection times.

In response to points of clarification, Mr Riant advised that:

e The new grounds would allow the sharing of use by the women, men and junior cricket
teams across the two grounds, freeing up the recreation ground to be used for other
sports.

e Home matches were currently played in a nearby village and this would enable a
permanent basis with a 8 grass wicket.

The Chair thanked Parish Councillor Trinder for her presentation and Mr Riant for his input
and invited Jon Buck to speak in support of the application, alongside Tom Allington, as agent,
and Russell Prince, as the applicant. Mr Buck thanked the Chair for the opportunity and
provided the Committee with a verbal presentation, including that:

e He was one of the architects involved with Temple Dinsley.
They had worked together with Historic England for over two years on this project.

e The Grade Il listed building was over 300 years old and needed to be preserved as a
heritage asset for future generations.
There would be 35 new apartments provided in the main building.

e The Tank House and Pump House would be converted into two premium new homes.

Page 7



Thursday, 30th January, 2025

e The sports hall and science block would be demolished and replaced with 22 new homes.
The no overall gain in floor space would help balance the substantial costs incurred in
preserving the heritage assets.

o Under these new proposals there would be less vehicular traffic than when the building
was used as a school.

e The landscaping proposals exceeded the net gain for biodiversity requirements.

The following Members asked for points of clarification:

Councillor Nigel Mason
Councillor Val Bryant
Councillor Jon Clayden
Councillor Caroline McDonnell

In response to points of clarification, Mr Buck advised that:

o It was still to be decided how to make key services available to residents and this would be
confirmed at a later stage in the planning application.

e This proposal provided a good dwelling mix with two thirds of the apartments in the main
building being a mix of two and three bedroomed dwellings.

o The majority of the site would be accessible and lifts would be provided in the main
building where possible for access to some of the apartments.

e The 22 new houses would be completely accessible and had been designed where a lift
could be installed.

e The two new houses in the Summer House Plantation were large and would have lifts
installed, so were fully accessible.

¢ A small ramp would be installed for access to the main building.

¢ No affordable housing would be provided. The provision of affordable housing was not
required for this application and it would not be viable to provide it.

The Chair thanked Mr Buck for his presentation and Mr Allington and Mr Prince for being in
attendance.

In response to points raised, the Senior Planning Officer advised that the public footpaths
were within the conservation area and these would be provided by Hertfordshire County
Council Highways as part of the section 106 agreement.

Councillor Martin Prescott proposed to grant permission and this was seconded by Councillor
Nigel Mason.

The following Members took part in the debate:

Councillor Martin Prescott
Councillor Mick Debenham
Councillor Nigel Mason
Councillor Jon Clayden
Councillor Val Bryant
Councillor Elizabeth Dennis

Points raised during the debate included:

e This was an excellent proposal which was very comprehensive and sympathetic to the
community and showed that an extensive amount of work had been undertaken by the
applicant.

e It was good to see how well the applicant and the Parish Council had worked together to
provide something that would be of benefit to the whole community.

Page 8



116

Thursday, 30th January, 2025

e It was good that young people in the village would be able to access the cricket club
facilities.

e It was disappointing that there could not be any affordable housing provided at Temple
Dinsley.

Having been proposed and seconded and, following a vote, it was:

RESOLVED: That application 24/01064/FP be GRANTED planning permission subject to the
reasons and conditions set out in the report of the Development and Conservation Manager
subject to:

(a) The completion of a satisfactory legal agreement and the applicant agreeing to extend the
statutory period in order to complete the agreement if required.

(b) The Committee to delegate powers to the Development and Conservation Manager to
resolve and amend matters as is appropriate and necessary.

(c) The conditions and the additional section 106 agreement requirements and updated
conditions as outlined in the original report and the Supplementary Document, including
the addition of Condition 59.

“Condition 59
Permissive footpaths

Prior to the proposed new permissive path from the Dower House being first brought into use,
details of alterations to existing boundary wall and gate where new access is proposed onto
Hitchin Road shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
Thereafter, the alterations and gate shall be implemented in accordance with the approved
details and be made available for pedestrian use in accordance with the phasing plan
approved under condition 4.

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and to protect the setting and appearance of
heritage assets.”

24/01605/LBC TEMPLE DINSLEY, (FORMERLY THE PRINCESS HELENA COLLEGE),
SCHOOL LANE, PRESTON, HERTFORDSHIRE, SG4 7RT)

Audio recording — 1 hour 34 minutes 10 seconds

The Senior Planning Officer provided an update regarding the Supplementary Document that
had been published on 30 January 2025.

There were no further questions from Members or contributions from public participants on the
Listed Building Consent application.

Councillor Martin Prescott proposed and Councillor Jon Clayden seconded and, following a
vote, it was:

RESOLVED: That application 24/01065/LBC be GRANTED listed building consent subject to
the reasons and conditions set out in the report of the Development and Conservation
Manager subject to:

(a) The Committee to delegate powers to the Development and Conservation Manager to
resolve and amend matters as is appropriate and necessary.

Page 9



117

Thursday, 30th January, 2025

(b) The inclusion of the additional condition (Condition 64):

“Prior to the proposed new permissive path from the Dower House being first brought into use,
details of alterations to existing boundary wall and gate where new access is proposed onto
Hitchin Road shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
Thereafter, the alterations and gate shall be implemented in accordance with the approved
details and be made available for pedestrian use in accordance with the phasing plan
approved under condition 4.

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and to protect the setting and appearance of
heritage assets.”

APPEALS
Audio recording — 1 hour 39 minutes 3 seconds

The Development and Conservation Manager presented the report entitled Planning Appeals
and informed the Committee that:

e 6 appeals had been decided, of which 4 had been dismissed and 2 had been allowed.
3 appeals had been lodged.

e A Purchase Notice had been served on the Council by the landowners regarding listed
building consent for double glazed windows in a property in Breachwood Green.

e A cost decision had been made to the Council for a property in Knebworth which related to
a permission in principle which was a two-stage process.

The following Members asked questions:

Councillor Elizabeth Dennis
Councillor Caroline McDonnell
Councillor Tom Tyson
Councillor Nigel Mason

In response to questions, the Development and Conservation Manager advised that:

e A purchase notice was a notice served by a landowner on the Council requiring the
purchase of land when a listed building consent had been refused and the landowner was
claiming that the land was no longer capable of reasonably beneficial use. When the
Council refused to accept a purchase notice, the case had to be referred to the Secretary
of State.

e There was no further update available on the planning application in Hinkworth Road,
Ashwell.

e The public enquiry into the planning application for 42 dwellings in Baldock would
commence on 29 April and 4 days have been allocated for this hearing. An update would
be provided at the next Planning Control Committee meeting.

The meeting closed at 9.22 pm

Chair

Page 10



Agenda Iltem 6

Location: Land on the North Side of Baldock Road, Royston, Herts,
SG8 ONT
Proposal: Tree Preservation Order
Ref. No: TPO/0215
Officer: Vicki Wood
1.0 Proposal
1.1  Confirmation of Tree Preservation Order TPO/00215 (2024) — G1 - Group of trees
comprising of All trees of various species.
2.0 Site History
2.1 In accordance with The Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) and The
Town and Country Planning (Tree Preservation) (England) Regulations 2012, North
Hertfordshire Council served a provisional Tree Preservation Order under
TPO/00198 (2020) dated 121" March 2020. However, the Tree Preservation Order
was not formally confirmed hence the need to revisit this which resulted in the
serving of provisional Tree Preservation Order TPO/00215 (2024) dated 07
November 2024 which provides for a period of 6 months (up to 07 May 2025) for the
Local Planning Authority to confirm the Order.
2.2 Following the serving of the current provisional Tree Preservation Order an

application was submitted under 24/02836/TPO to remove 2 x Field Maple, 1 x Alder
trees and a group of whips on land between Hampshire Road and Baldock Road.
These works were required to achieve acceptable highways visibility. A group of
whips had been planted to initially improve the entrance to the Show Home. This
application was granted on 30" January 2025 with a condition requiring the planting
of 3 x native trees in suitable positions along the front boundary with Baldock Road
following the removal of the 2 x Field Maple and Alder trees. The condition also
provides for the replacement of any of the newly planted trees to be replaced with
another tree of the same size and species if a tree fails to become established or
dies within 2 years of planting. For clarification the condition reads as follows:

‘The Field Maple and Alder trees when felled shall be replaced with suitable native
trees with a girth size of 8-10cm as agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

The replacement trees shall be planted in suitable positions along the front boundary
with Baldock Road within the first available planting season following the felling
unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

In the event of a replacement tree(s) failing to become established or dying within

two years of planting, another tree(s) of the same species and planting size shall be
planted in their place in the first available planting season.

Page 11




3.0

3.1

4.0

4.1

41.1

4.2

42.1

4.3

431

4.3.2

4.3.3

Reason: To safeguard and enhance the appearance of the Group Tree Preservation
Order.’

Representations

A period of 28 days from the date of service of a provisional Tree Preservation Order
provides for comments to be made. In this case, one objection has been received
from the Owner/Occupiers of 1, Rosecomb, Royston SG8 9FL and raises the
following concerns:

e The tree preservation order appears to run the length of their border fence
where there are a number of trees and bushes that need regularly trimming or
lopping to stop damage to their fence or property.

o Works to the trees would result in an unnecessary process where such works
are simply to prevent overhang.

e Process of applying to carry out works to trees is not clear to residents.

o Clarification as to what is covered under the Tree Preservation Order in terms
of a “Tree’ as there are a number of bushes and wasteland plants which
border their boundary.

Planning Considerations

Site and Surroundings

The site lies on the east side approach to Royston town centre where a relatively
recent housing development exits to the north of Baldock Road and Therfield Heath
to the south, a local nature reserve and Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI).

Key Issues

When considering whether to confirm the TPO, it is essential that certain matters are
considered, these are: any impact on the local environment in terms of loss of
amenity if the trees were to be removed; any benefit in their retention for the present
and the future and other relevant factors such as flora and fauna.

Consideration

Trees represent an important environmental, economic and amenity resource within
the built and natural environment. They are recognised within the England Trees Action
Plan 2021-2024; Tree Preservation Orders and Trees in Conservation Areas 2014 and
the North Hertfordshire Council Tree Strategy 2017 and Climate Change Strategy
2020-2025. In addition to these, Section 14 (Meeting the challenge of climate change,
flooding and coastal damage) of the NPPF (2024) and Policies SP12 — Green
Infrastructure, biodiversity and landscape and NE1 — Landscape of the North
Hertfordshire Council Local Plan 2011-2035, all of which seek to support the
contribution trees make to the natural environment.

Prior to the making of the provisional Tree Preservation Order, a visual assessment
of the trees was undertaken by Maydencroft arboricultural consultants. The
assessment looked at the condition of the trees at that time (October 2024) taking
into account their landscape and amenity value. The recommendation is for their
retention and the suggestion is for a Group Tree Preservation Order.

In terms of the objection received, it is accepted that the natural growth of trees
means there will be a degree of overhang and in this case the overhang is to a

Page 12



4.3.4

4.3.5

5.0

5.1

52

6.0

6.1

7.0

7.1

8.0

8.1

9.0

residential garden and dwelling. The confirmation of the provisional Tree
Preservation Order would not mean that the owner/occupiers of that or of any other
property would not be able to undertake works to the trees. However, an application
for ‘Works to tree covered by a Tree Preservation Order’ would need to be submitted
to and approved by the Local Planning Authority prior to undertaking such works.
There is no local authority fee payable to submit an application to undertake works
though there may be times when an application would need to be accompanied by
an arboricultural assessment which would incur a fee in its own right. Given the
position of the trees, there are limited properties to which a Tree Preservation Order
would impact to any significant degree.

Given the public amenity and landscape value the trees present in providing a visual
screen between the development and the open countryside and vice versa, a Tree
Preservation Order is the most appropriate way to afford the trees a level of
protection.

The assessment undertaken by Maydencroft concludes that some historic soil
disturbance between Baldock Road and the tree belt has taken place which may
have contributed towards environmental changes to the root systems of the Beech
trees which is likely to be a contributor in their decline. In addition to this, there is
evidence of Ash dieback, sooty bark disease and Dutch elm disease which is likely to
spread over time and will adversely affect the health of the trees.

Environmental Implications

Trees contribute a key role in helping to tackle the climate emergency and creating a
greener district. They not only directly remove carbon dioxide from the atmosphere
and provide us with oxygen but also deliver many other benefits including: providing
visual public amenity; softening or complementing the effect of the built environment;
displaying seasonal changes and providing opportunities for biodiversity; making
places more comfortable in noticeable ways by contributing to screening and shade;
reducing wind speed and turbulence; reduce flooding by intercepting snow and
rainfall and reducing sun glare.

Trees are also a key element of the green infrastructure network, contributing to
urban cooling and providing microclimate effects which help reduce energy demands
on buildings. They therefore represent a key resource that can significantly contribute
to climate change adaptation.

Legal Implications

Whilst there is unlikely to be any financial implications to the Council directly, the
assessment notes that the tree belt requires urgent health and safety works due to
the standing dead and declining trees present within falling distance of the highway.

Human Rights Act Implications

No implications are considered likely under the Human Rights Act 1998.

Alternative Options

None.

Conclusion

Page 13



9.1

9.2

9.3

9.4

10.0

10.1

Whilst there is evidence of standing dead and diseased trees within the tree belt, it is
important that it is protected as it provides the housing development with a buffer
from visible traffic, noise and pollution from Baldock Road. The loss of the tree belt
would be particularly detrimental for residents but would also have a negative impact
for the road users and walkers using Therfield Heath.

Over time, given the condition of many of the trees there will be losses, however, a
Tree Preservation Order would ensure native mixed replacement species are planted
which would, over the longer term, not only strengthen, but would improve the quality
of the tree belt and ensure its retention for future generations.

Should members decide not to confirm the provisional Tree Preservation Order, no
protection would be afforded to the tree belt which could result in its loss at any point
in time.

In view of the importance of the tree belt, it would be appropriate, in my view, to
confirm provisional TPO/00215 (2024) dated 07 November 2024.

Recommendation

That the provisional Tree Preservation Order (TPO/00215) is CONFIRMED

Page 14



Views of the tree belt taken from Therfield Road to the south of the site.

Galaxy A23 5G
11 February 2025 11:36

e 3 - ol
=l ~
C e

Y o)

ﬁﬁﬁmzs 5G o=

Page 15



Galaxy A23 5G
11 February 2025 11:36

Galaxy A23 5G
11 February 2025 11:36

Page 16



TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING (TREES) REGULATIONS 2012
TREE PRESERVATION ORDER

Town and Country Planning Act 1990
North Hertfordshire District Council

Land On The North Side Of, Baldock Road, Royston, Hertfordshire, SG8 9NT,
TPO/00215 (2024)

The North Hertfordshire District Council, in exercise of the powers conferred on them by
sections 198 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 hereby make the following Order—

Citation
1.—This Order may be cited as North Hertfordshire District Council
Land On The North Side Of Baldock Road Royston Hertfordshire SG8 ONT TPO/00215 (2024)

Interpretation

2.—(1) In this Order “the authority” means the North Hertfordshire District Council.

(2) In this Order any reference to a numbered section is a reference to the section so
numbered in the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and any reference to a numbered
regulation is a reference to the regulation so numbered in the Town and Country Planning
(Tree Preservation)(England) Regulations 2012.

Effect

3.—(1) Subject to article 4, this Order takes effect provisionally on the date on which it is
made.

(2) Without prejudice to subsection (7) of section 198 (power to make tree preservation
orders) or subsection (1) of section 200 (tree preservation orders: Forestry Commissioners)
and, subject to the exceptions in regulation 14, no person shall—

(a) cut down, top, lop, uproot, wilfully damage, or wilfully destroy; or

(b) cause or permit the cutting down, topping, lopping, wilful damage or wilful destruction
of,

any tree specified in the Schedule to this Order except with the written consent of the
authority in accordance with regulations 16 and 17, or of the Secretary of State in
accordance with regulation 23, and, where such consent is given subject to conditions, in
accordance with those conditions.

Application to trees to be planted pursuant to a condition

4. In relation to any tree identified in the first column of the Schedule by the letter “C”, being
a tree to be planted pursuant to a condition imposed under paragraph (a) of section 197

Page 17



(planning permission to include appropriate provision for preservation and planting of trees),
this Order takes effect as from the time when the tree is planted.

Dated this
Tifls 2o 29

The Common Seal of the North Hertfordshire District Council
was hereunto affixed in the presence of —

Signed on behalf of the
North Hertfordshire District Council
Authorised by the Council to sign in that behalf

Page 18



Reference on Map :
Description :
Situation:

SCHEDULE

SPECIFICATION OF TREES

Trees specified by reference to a group
(within a broken black line on the map)

G1

G1 - All trees of various species
Land On The North Side Of, Baldock Road, Royston

Page 19



Z 229810001 A9AINg 9ouBUpIO ZZ0Z SIybu aseqeiep pue 1ybuAdos umol) @ ¥20C’LL'L0 -81ed

&W 00G°€:L 980

[1oUNn09n
S}19H
TIONNOD LOMLSIA FHIHSAYO41d3H HLYON Y1i0ON

1N6 89S ‘uoishoy ‘peoy oopjeg 10 pIS YHON 8y L uQ pueT) ($202) S1200/0dL

@
O&Q



Agenda Item 7

Location: Church Wood
Three Houses Lane
Codicote
Hertfordshire

Applicant: D&A Architectural & Structural
Proposal: Change of use of existing site from agricultural to use

Class B8 (Storage and Distribution). Extensions and
alterations to existing barns; erection of detached
temporary structure of three years and supporting
substation and concrete base. |Installation of
hardstanding for outside storage and parking and
installation of electric front entrance gates. Drainage
pond and associated outfall pipe, alterations to surface
access track (Development has commenced).

Ref. No: 24/02343/FP

Officer: Tom Rea

Date of expiry of statutory period: 24th March 2025

Reason for Referral to Committee: This application is required to be determined by the
Planning Control Committee due to the site area of the application site.

1.0 Relevant Planning Policy

1.1 North Hertfordshire Local Plan 2011 — 2031

Policy SP1: Sustainable development in North Hertfordshire
Policy SP2: Settlement Hierarchy and Spatial Distribution
Policy SP3: Employment

Policy SP5: Countryside and Green Belt

Policy SP6: Sustainable Transport

Policy SP9: Design and Sustainability

Policy SP12: Green Infrastructure, landscape and biodiversity
Policy ETC2: Employment development outside of Employment Areas and
Employment Allocations BA10 and RY9

Policy T1: Assessment of transport matters

Policy T2: Parking

Policy D1: Sustainable Design

Policy D3: Protecting Living conditions

Policy D4: Air quality

Policy NE2: Landscape

Policy NE4: Biodiversity and geological sites

Policy NE8: Sustainable drainage systems

Policy HE1: Designated heritage assets

Policy HE4: Archaeology Page 21



1.2 National Planning Policy Framework (2024)

Section 2: Achieving sustainable development

Section 6: Building a strong competitive economy

Section 9: Promoting sustainable transport

Section 11: Making effective use of land

Section 12: Achieving well-designed and beautiful places
Section 13: Protecting Green Belt land

Section 14: Meeting the challenge of climate change

Section 16: Conserving and enhancing the natural environment

1.3 Supplementary Planning Guidance and Documents

Design SPD 2011
Vehicle Parking at New Developments 2011
Sustainability SPD (2024)

1.4 Knebworth Neighbourhood Plan (Made May 2022)

Policy KBLE2: Rural Businesses

Policy KBEF1: Biodiversity

Policy KBT1: Sustainable Modes of Travel
Policy KBEF3: Flooding and Drainage

Appendix G: Church Wood and Crouch Green Wood are noted as Local Wildlife
Sites.

2.0 Site History

1/1669/84/(118): Use of land as pet cemetery. Granted

05/01337/1: Detached building for machinery store and workshop ( in connection with
pet cemetery and pheasant rearing business) Granted 22/11/05. Condition 3 restricted
future uses.

14/02866/1AG: Agricultural building for grain storage (for pheasant rearing / shooting
business) . Granted as Permitted Development on 15t December 2014

18/01478/AG: Agricultural building for straw storage . Granted as Permitted
Development on 19" July 2018

20/000614/PNQ: Prior Approval Notification - Class Q: Conversion of agricultural
building into one 3-bed dwelling. Permission refused as not permitted development,
7/05/2020

22/01891/FP: Change of use of existing agricultural barn to one 3-bed dwelling.
Granted 28/9/22. This permission has not been implemented

24/01002/FP: Change of use of existing three barns to office and storage space and
the erection of supporting substation and concrete base. Withdrawn 09.09.2024

Page 22



3.0

3.1

3.2

Representations

Site Notice and Neighbour consultation
At the time of writing this report 31 comments have been received with 30 objections
and 1 neutral comment. The comments include the following concerns (full details on
the Council’s web site) :
- Inappropriate development in the Green Belt / contrary to Green Belt policy

Loss of openness

Not a sustainable location for development

Not a suitable location for HGV traffic / Increased traffic and congestion

Danger to other road users including cyclists and pedestrians

HGV’s degrading the road surface, verge and drainage channels

Increase in surface water flooding

Not a storage and distribution use but an industrial / manufacturing business

Health and safety concerns

Adverse impact on the environmental and ecological impact including damage

to trees, the woodland TPO and local wildlife site

Adverse impact on landscape character and appearance

Inaccurate statements and information within the application

No additional jobs are being created — the business has relocated from Hemel

Hempstead

Adverse visual impact

Query surface water and foul water drainage arrangements

Increased noise and vibration, light and dust pollution

May lead to further future development

Unauthorised development

No biodiversity net gain only a loss

Loss of local property value / loss of residential amenity

Transport statement cannot be relied upon

Application lacks information

Concern if permission granted that the whole site would benefit from an

industrial use

Lack of BNG contrary to Local Plan policies and the NPPF

Some of the works undertaken constitute a criminal offence

Knebworth Parish Council:
Formal comments as follows:

‘The Parish Council met on Wednesday 12" February 2025 to discuss

application 24/02343/FP Church Wood, Three Houses Lane, Codicote,
Hertfordshire, and concluded that they objected to this application on grounds of
change of use it being on green belt land and the change of use not being appropriate
or suitable to the area.

Councillors wished to encourage planning to request HCC Highways Department to
continue with enforcement action against this development.’

Page 23



3.3

Hertfordshire Highways:

Recommends refusal of the application for the following reasons:

3.4

3.5

3.6

3.7

Three Houses Lane is substandard to accommodate HGV’s

No swept path analysis has been submitted

Inadequate vehicular access

Development site is not in a sustainable location contrary to the NPPF and LTP4

Natural England:
Comments as follows:

‘Since submission of our response to the above application (24/02343/FP - our ref
498237) we have been alerted to concerns that the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal
(PEA) may not have adequately assessed impacts to Church Wood Local Wildlife Site
(LWS). Whilst these sites fall outside of our statutory remit, Natural England will not
support proposals likely to have an adverse impact on LWSs and/or Priority Habitat,
including Ancient Woodland, given the important role these sites and habitats play in
supporting the functioning and resilience of the wider ecological network. Our advice is
that your authority should ensure that a full ecological appraisal of all proposed works
within the full red line boundary of the proposed development has been provided,
alongside any details of mitigation measures required to address adverse impacts on
the LWS and /or Priority Habitat, in accordance with relevant local and national
planning policy. Your authority should make full reference to advice in our previous
response with regard to potential impacts on Priority Habitats and Ancient Woodland.’

Active Travel England:
‘In relation to the above planning consultation and on the basis of the information
available, Active Travel England is content with the development proposed’

Woodland Trust:
The Trust provides the following summary of their comments:
‘Ancient woodland is an irreplaceable habitat; once lost it is gone forever. As such, it
should be protected from any form of development that will result in its loss or
deterioration. The Trust objects to this proposal on account of loss and deterioration of
potentially unmapped ancient woodlands. There is no wholly exceptional reason for the
development in this location and as such, until the status of the woodlands is
determined, consideration of the application should be deferred on the grounds that it
may not comply with national planning policy’.

NHDC Environmental Health officer (Air Quality/Contamination/Noise) :

The officer provides the following advice -

‘The application is supported by a noise assessment which concerns itself with the
impact of noise from the surrounding area impacting on the proposed B8 use. This is
not what we would normally expect to see. We would normally look to the noise
generated by the commercial source impacting any residential properties or other
premises in the vicinity. The residential premises in this case are some distance away
(200 metres or more) and the proposal is for B8 use only. The application states that
hours of operation are not relevant the proposals and does not involve the carrying out
of industrial or commercial activities and processes. This is again reinforced by the
information in the noise report. This being said, the only impacts would in all
probability be from vehicle movements and given the distances involved the noise
would be from vehicles on the highway, which normally sits outside of our remit.

Page 24



3.8

3.9

4.0

4.1

41.1

4.2

42.1

To draw conclusions, therefore, is difficult. However, given the proposals as set out
and the location etc | would not raise any objection to the proposals but would perhaps
look to restrict the hours of use to day-time only hours to limit the impact of any

noise. In the absence of any qualifying information on the exact nature of the use, |
think that this is proportionate and prudent.’

NHDC Ecology officer:

Raises an objection until a full ecological appraisal of the actual works undertaken
within the full red line boundary has been provided together with details of mitigation
measures that will be required to compensate for damaging practices to the LWS on
the basis the application is contrary to policies SP12 and NE4 in the North Herts Local
Plan

Lead Local Flood Authority:
Any comments will be reported at the meeting

Planning Considerations

Site and Surroundings

The application site is approximately 5.51 hectares in overall area and is located on the
south side of Three Houses Lane. The site is within the Green Belt. The site includes
4 main buildings grouped together and located approximately 80 metres to the south of
Three Houses Lane. A vehicular access road serves the site having recently being
upgraded and widened.

Crouchgreen Wood and Church Wood flank the buildings on site and extend to the
south. The trees within the woods are protected by a provisional Tree Protection Order
(TPO 00214). The woodlands are designated as part of a Local Wildlife site.

Proposal

Change of use of existing site from agricultural to use Class B8 (Storage and
Distribution). Extensions and alterations to existing barns; erection of detached
temporary structure of three years and supporting substation and concrete base.
Installation of hardstanding for outside storage and parking and installation of electric
front entrance gates. Drainage pond and associated outfall pipe, alterations to surface
access track (Development has commenced)

Page 25



4.3

Key Issues

4.3.1 The key issues are as follows:

4.3.2

4.3.3

4.3.4

4.3.5

Principle of development

Impact on character and appearance of the area

Impact on Heritage Assets

Ecological issues

Highway issues

Other Environmental issues (Noise, Flooding, Climate change etc)

Principle of development
Policy SP5 of the Emerging Local Plan states at paragraph c) that the LPA :

‘Will only permit development proposals in the Green Belt where they would not result
in inappropriate development or where very special circumstances have been
demonstrated; *

Paragraph 153 of the NPPF states:

‘When considering any planning application, local planning authorities should ensure
that substantial weight is given to any harm to the Green Belt, including harm to its
openness.. Inappropriate development is, by definition, harmful to the Green Belt
and should not be approved except in very special circumstances. ‘Very special
circumstances’ will not exist unless the potential harm to the Green Belt by reason of
inappropriateness, and any other harm resulting from the proposal, is clearly
outweighed by other considerations.’

Paragraph 154 of the NPPF states that development in the Green Belt is
inappropriate and then sets out several exceptions. The exceptions that may be
relevant to consider with this application are as follows:

c) the extension or alteration of a building provided that it does not result in
disproportionate additions over and above the size of the original building;

h) Other forms of development provided they preserve its openness and do not
conflict with the purposes of including land within it. These include:

iv. the re-use of buildings provided that the buildings are of permanent
and substantial construction;

Page 26



4.3.6 The development, which has largely been implemented on site involves extensions of

4.3.7

4.3.8

4.3.9

4.3.10

43.11

two of the former agricultural buildings on the site — Unit 1 and Unit 2) . The
floorspace calculations are as follows:

Unit Original Extension (sq New floorspace | Percentage
floorspace (sq metres) (sqg metres) increase
metres)

Unit 1 200 83 283 41%

Unit 2 218 223 441 102%

Unit 3 448 0 448 -

Total 866 306 1172 35%

It is considered that the large increases in floor areas to Units 1 and 2 are significant in
scale (including doubling the size of Unit 2) and therefore cannot reasonably be
considered as not being ‘disproportionate additions over and above the size of the
original building’ . Paragraph 154 c) does not therefore apply to this development.
Furthermore, although all of the Units 1, 2 and 3 are being re-used they have been
extended and altered including Unit 3 which has external racking added to it.
Paragraph 154 h) iv. would not apply to this development either. The extensions and
alterations to units 1, 2 & 3 are inappropriate development.

A new ‘temporary’ building has been erected to the north of Units 1, 2 & 3. This
building measures 105 sq metres in area. It is an office building associated with the
current unauthorised Class B8 industrial use of the site. It is not a building that meets
any of the exceptions set out in paragraph 154. It is therefore inappropriate
development.

Taking built floorspace as a whole the footprint of buildings across the site has
increased substantially from the authorised agricultural buildings of 866 sqm to the
current 1276 sq metres — an increase of 47%.

The NPPF published in December 2024 introduces a new designation of development
— ‘Grey Belt’. Annex 2 (Glossary) of the NPPF defines ‘Grey Belt’ as follows:

‘For the purposes of plan-making and decision-making, ‘grey belt’ is defined as

land in the Green Belt comprising previously developed land and/or any other land that,

in either case, does not strongly contribute to any of purposes (a), (b), or (d) in

paragraph 143. ‘Grey belt’ excludes land where the application of the policies relating
to

the areas or assets in footnote 7 (other than Green Belt) would provide a strong reason

for refusing or restricting development.’

is for agricultural purposes land and

However, the authorised and last us%&gl
d that is or was last occupied by

the Annex in the NPPF specifically e



4.3.12

4.3.13

4.3.14

4.3.15

4.3.16

4.3.17

agricultural or forestry buildings’ as being considered previously developed land and
therefore the site cannot be considered ‘Grey Belt’ land. Even if the site were
considered to be Grey Belt it would not meet the criteria in paragraph 155 of the NPPF
to be regarded as appropriate development in the Green Belt because there is no
demonstrable unmet need for this type of industrial development in the district and the
site is in an unsustainable location.

In addition to the unauthorised extensions that have taken place to the buildings on site
together with the unauthorised new ‘temporary’ building, the site has been further
developed since its last agricultural use with a large amount of new concrete
hardstanding both around the buildings and through the widening of the access road
leading into the site. Furthermore, there is a large amount of outdoor storage of
metalwork and other materials on open ground to the east and south of the main group
of buildings on site. These aspects of the development do not meet with any of the
exceptions set out in paragraph 154 h) of the NPPF as they do not preserve the
openness of the Green Belt and conflict with the purposes of including land within it.

The development as taken place on site, by reason of its use and associated
operations and amount of new floorspace and built volume is firmly and unequivocally
considered to be inappropriate development in the Green Belt and by definition harmful
to the Green Belt and in accordance with paragraph 153 of the NPPF should not be
approved except in very special circumstances. The applicant has not acknowledged
any harm to the Green Belt and has not advanced any very special circumstances. For
there to be very special circumstances the potential harm to the Green Belt by reason
of inappropriateness and any other harm resulting from the proposal must be clearly
outweighed by other considerations.

Therefore, in addition to the harm caused by inappropriateness consideration must be
given to any other harm arising from the development. Paragraph 142 of the
Framework explains that ‘The fundamental aim of Green Belt policy is to prevent urban
spraw! by keeping land permanently open; the essential characteristics of Green Belts
are their openness and their permanence.’ In assessing the impact of the
development on the openness of the Green Belt the planning judgement must have
regard to both the spatial impact of the development (i.e. the quantitative impact of new
development) and a visual impact (the effect upon people’s perception of openness
from beyond the boundary of the application site).

In this case, in terms of the spatial assessment, there has been a significant increase in
floorspace and volume of buildings at the application site as well as outdoor storage of
materials which directly affects the openness of the site and therefore harms the
openness of the Green Belt. In terms of the visual impact the buildings on site can be
seen from Three Houses Lane and some adjacent properties. The recently added
drainage pond, widened access road, boundary fencing and entrance gates are also
visible from the road. It is contended that the perception of openness of the Green
Belt as a result of the recent works is significantly affected as a result of this visual
impact.

Paragraph 143 of the Framework sets out the five purposes of the Green Belt. The
development fails to comply with sub-section c) which seeks to safeguard the
countryside from encroachment.

The Council published its Green Belt Review Update in 2018. In that document the
application site falls within strategp@g@@gal No. 7 — Old Knebworth. The outcome of
the review was that land parcel No. 7 made a moderate contribution towards



safeguarding the countryside from encroachment and a moderate contribution overall
to Green Belt purposes. The document was endorsed by the Local Plan Inspector
when concluding the Local Plan Examination in Public which subsequently led to the
adoption of the North Herts Local Plan 2011 — 2031. The Review confirms the
important contribution that the application site and its immediate surroundings make to
the fundamental aim of Green Belt policy which is to maintain openness.

4.3.18 In conclusion on the Green Belt issue it is considered that the development results in
inappropriate development that by definition is harmful to the Green Belt. Furthermore,
the development results in other harm including spatial and visual harm as well as
encroachment into the Green Belt.

4.3.19 SP3 (‘Employment’) of the Local Plan states that the Council will ‘Support offices,
research and development, light industrial and B-class uses in appropriate locations
outside of designated employment areas, including offices in main town centres and
concentrations of these employment uses in certain villages;’

The site is not in an appropriate location for employment development given the
locational approach set out in SP3, the harm to the Green Belt and the generally
unsustainable location for the scale of development that has taken place at the site.
The development is therefore also contrary to the provisions of Policy SP3 of the LP

4.3.20 In summary, the proposal is inappropriate development within the Green Belt and there
is harm to the openness of the Green Belt and conflict with a purpose of the Green
Belt. Itis necessary to consider whether there any other harms and benefits that
would arise before setting out the concluding planning balance on this proposal.

4.3.21 Impact on the character and appearance of the area

4.3.22 The development has resulted in a significant change to the character and appearance
of the area through the following aspects of the development:

The introduction generally of a high intensity industrial development in a
woodland and predominantly rural / agricultural setting

The introduction of large extensions to existing buildings, a new commercial
building, large areas of hardstanding, extensive areas of outdoor storage of
metalwork and associated goods, erection of entrance gates and perimeter
fencing

Provision of electricity sub-station, drainage pond and lighting

Felling of trees, excavation work for utilities and movement of soil around the
site with the loss of bluebells and other flora.

Increase in the size and frequency of commercial vehicles accessing the site
and along Three Houses Lane generally

Deterioration of the adjacent carriageway and ditches through surface water
run-off and HGV’s accessing the site

4.3.23 The application site falls within Area 205 (Codicote Plateau) of the North Herts and
Stevenage Landscape Study 2011. Hﬁgﬁua&tates the key characteristics of the



4.3.24

4.3.25

4.3.26

4.3.27

4.3.28

area as comprising gently rolling upland landscape with large arable parcels with
varying blocks of woodland with a moderate to high sensitivity overall with the area
sensitive to the introduction of additional development and urbanising features. In
terms of its capacity to accommodate development the study says that the landscape
capacity for commercial/warehouse estates and large scale open storage is considered
to be low. The landscape capacity for incremental small scale development is also
stated to be low to moderate.

Policy SP9 states that the Council will support new development where it is well
designed and located and responds positively to its local context. Policy D1 also states
that permission will be granted for development which responds positively to the site’s
local context. Policy NE2 (‘Landscape’) is particularly relevant to this application as it
states:

Planning permission will be granted for development proposals that:

a) Respect the sensitivities of the relevant landscape character area and have regard
to the guidelines identified for built development and landscape management;

b) Do not cause unacceptable harm to the character and appearance of the
surrounding area or the landscape character area in which the site is located, taking
account of any suitable mitigation measures necessary to achieve this;

c) Are designed and located to ensure the health and future retention of important
landscape features; and

d) Have considered the long-term management and maintenance of any existing and
proposed landscaping.

It is considered that the unauthorised development the subject of this application has
had an adverse impact on the tranquillity and natural beauty of the countryside through
the impacts set out above resulting in harm to the character and appearance of the
area in general. The development is in conflict with Policies SP9, D1 and NE2 of the
Local Plan as well as being contrary to Section 12 of the Framework, in particular
paragraph 135 which states that planning decisions should, inter alia, ensure that
developments are sympathetic to local character including the surrounding built
environment and landscape setting.

Heritage impact

The nearest historic building is The Peach House, a Grade Il narrow glasshouse
located within the Node Park settlement approximately 140 metres to the south east.
Given the distance of the industrial buildings from the listed building together with
intervening landscaping in between it is considered that there would be no adverse
impact on the historic significance or historic setting of the Peach House. There are
no other nearby historic assets which could be considered materially affected by the
development. The impact on ancient woodland is considered below.

Ecological issues

Page 30



4.3.29

4.3.30

4.3.31

4.3.32

4.3.33

4.3.34

4.3.35

4.3.36

The application site is part of a Local Wildlife Site (LWS) but has no statutory
designations. Both Crouchgreen Wood and Church Wood are covered by a provisional
Tree Protection Order (TPO 00214 (2024) which covers both woodlands specifying
various species of trees protected.

The submitted PEA states that ‘the proposals are limited to the conversion of extant
sheds and the erection of a small substation on existing hardstanding only. Therefore
the proposed development applied for will not result in the loss any habitats of
ecological value’.

The Council’s Ecologist has raised concern that the submitted Preliminary Ecological
Appraisal (PEA) does not adequately assess the ecological impacts of the
development including the damage caused by several features including the drainage
basin and the panting of a laurel hedgerow within the LWS. The officer considers the
development contrary to Policies SP12 (Green infrastructure, landscape and
biodiversity) and NE4 (Biodiversity and geological sites) of the Local Plan.

Highway issues

Policy T1 of the Local Plan states that permission will be granted provided :
‘Development would not lead to highway safety problems or cause unacceptable
impacts on the highway network’

The Policy further states :

d) For major developments, applicants demonstrate (as far as is practicable) how: i. the
proposed scheme would be served by public transport; ii. safe, direct and convenient
routes for pedestrians and cyclists will be provided; and iii. comprehensive integration
into the existing pedestrian and cycle, public transport and road networks will be
secured.

(This application has been advertised as a major development because of the site area
exceeding 1 hectare and the floorspace created is 1,000 sq metres or more (Part 1 of
the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) Order 2015)).

From the previous comments of the Highway Authority (HA) and the evidence provided
by third party submissions it is clear that HGV’s have difficulty negotiating Three
Houses Lane because of its limited width and difficulty accessing the application site
again because of the narrow width of the carriageway and soft verges and adjacent
drainage ditch. The submitted Transport statement is inadequate in that it does not
demonstrate satisfactorily how safe access can be achieved along Three Houses Lane
and there is no swept path analysis to demonstrate that vehicles can enter and exit the
site safely or turn around within the site. It is also apparent that there has been a
significant increase in HGV movements into / out of the site over and above the
previous agricultural use.

In terms of parking only 11 spaces are shown on the submitted site plan GA004 Rev 3
whereas the combined floorspace of 1276 sq metres requires 17 spaces. No provision
is made for lorry parking or visitors and no dedicated cycle storage area is shown on
the submitted information.

Hertfordshire County Council’s Local Transport Plan (LTP4 2018) sets out in its policies
a hierarchal approach to transport plprgifgt®gncourage greater and safer use of
sustainable transport modes (Policy 1) and to influence where new development is



4.3.37

4.3.38

4.3.39

4.3.40

4341

4.3.42

located so that it can be served by public transport or where key services can be
accessed by walking and cycling (Policy 2). Policy 5 of the LTP4 seeks to resist
development ‘that would either severely affect the rural or residential character of a
road or other right of way, or which would severely affect safety on rural roads, local
roads and rights of way especially for vulnerable road users’

Hertfordshire County Council’s ‘Place and Movement Planning Design Guide’ (adopted
2024) sets out the framework of policy, advice and standards aimed at supporting
national policies and guidelines aimed at delivering sustainable development and in
support of the Local Transport Plan (LTP4). The poor highway access to the site and
the conflict between associated HGV traffic and other road users together with its
unsustainable location means that the development is not in accordance with Design
Guide.

Other Environmental issues (Noise, Flooding, Climate change etc)

The Council’'s Environmental Health officer has referred to the incorrect methodology
used in the submitted Noise report in that the report should be assessing the impact of
the development on the surrounding noise sensitive receptors including nearby
residential property. However, the advice is that conditions could be imposed should
the Council be minded to grant permission such as hours of working etc. The NPPF
advises that local authorities should consider whether unacceptable development could
be made acceptable through the use of conditions or planning obligations. In the
circumstances and given the distance of nearby residential properties from the site it is
considered that there are no convincing grounds to justify a refusal on noise matters
particularly where conditions could be used to control the use. It is also the case that
there is other legislation available to the Local Authority to take action should there be
a noise nuisance arising from the development e.g. the Environmental Protection Act
1990.

The site is within Flood Zone 1 of the Environment Agency’s Flood Map i.e. where
there is the lowest probability of fluvial flooding. The main issue appears to be surface
water run off from the site. The application is accompanied by a Flood Risk
Assessment which proposes only a modest addition to the site drainage arrangement
i.e. the provision of raingarden planters. Comments from the Lead Local Flood
Authority are awaited however it is considered that this matter could be managed by
the attachment of planning conditions should permission be granted.

Even though this application is retrospective it is not exempt from the need to achieve
bio-diversity net gain as the development impacts a priority habitat and impacts an
area more than 25 sq metres. That said , if permission were to be granted it is likely
given the site area that bio-diversity net gain could be achieved or alternatively this
could be secured off site. The mandatory Bio-diversity net gain condition would be
required in the event of the grant of planning permission.

The application is not accompanied by a sustainability assessment to address the
impact of the development on local climate change. The submitted Design and Access
statement makes only brief reference to sustainability commenting that the site ‘s
located within a sustainable locatighg qan@tpat the extensions to the buildings on site
‘have been fabricated using sustainabfe construction methods and materials’ The



4.3.43

4.3.44

4.3.45

4.3.46

4.3.47

4.3.48

5.0

5.1

application is not supported by any further information as to how the development will
be future proofed against the challenge of climate change as required by the
Framework and the Council’s Sustainabiity SPD adopted in 2024. If permission is
granted a condition requiring the submission of a site-wide sustainability strategy would
be required, such strategy addressing such matters as renewable energy, reducing
carbon emissions and water conservation.

The Planning Balance and conclusion

The overarching purpose of the planning system is to contribute to achieving sustainable
development, as stated in Section 2 of the NPPF. This is considered against the three
objectives of sustainable development, the economic, social, and environmental
objectives.

The development brings forward economic benefits in the provision of employment. Ten
employees are noted on the application form. The previous use would have involved
some employment but the increase in employment is noted. Moderate weight can be
attributed to this benefit.

The development is considered inappropriate development in the Green Belt. No very
special circumstances have been advanced in support of the application and none are
apparent in this case. Paragraph 142 of the NPPF says that the Government attaches
great importance to Green Belts. The harm to the Green Belt must therefore carry
significant weight.

The development causes harm to the character and appearance of the area and the
use is detrimental to highway safety. There is harm to the ecology of the site and there
are outstanding matters concerning surface water drainage and sustainability. The
development is also in an unsustainable location and fails to achieve the environmental
objective of sustainable development as required by the Framework. Collectively these
environmental harms carry significant weight. In terms of Green Belt policy it is
concluded that the benefits that would arise from the development do not constitute
very special circumstances that clearly outweighs the harm to the Green Belt by reason
of inappropriateness and any other harm.

In terms of a summary of applying weight to the positive and negative aspects of the
application, it is considered that the adverse impacts of the development significantly
and demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed against the policies in the
NPPF as a whole and accordingly planning permission should be refused.

Alternative Options

None applicable

Legal Implications

In making decisions on applications submitted under the Town and Country
Planning legislation, the Council is required to have regard to the provisions of the
development plan and to any otfparg@eg@considerations. The decision must be
in accordance with the plan unless tfie material considerations indicate otherwise.



6.0

6.1

Where the decision is to refuse or restrictive conditions are attached, the applicant
has a right of appeal against the decision.

Recommendation

That planning permission be REFUSED for the following reasons:

The application site is within an area designated in the North Hertfordshire Local
Plan as Green Belt, within which there is a presumption against inappropriate
development, unless very special circumstances can be demonstrated. In the
view of the Local Planning Authority, the proposal does not comply with any of the
exemption criteria set out under paragraphs 154 and 155 of the NPPF.
Furthermore, it would result in a materially greater impact on openness and would
conflict with one of the five purposes of the Green Belt. As such, in the opinion of
the Local Planning Authority, the harm to the Green Belt by reason of
inappropriateness, as well as to openness and the purposes of the Green Belt, is
not clearly outweighed by other material considerations and as a result,

very special circumstances have not been demonstrated. As such, the proposal
would not accord with the provisions of Policy SP5 of the North Hertfordshire Local
Plan 2011 - 2031 or with the provisions of Section 13 of the NPPF

The development amounts to an intensification of the use of the site for industrial
purposes, including Class B8 warehousing, which generates an increase in vehicular
traffic, including Heavy Goods Vehicles, in an inappropriate rural location for the use
and in a location which lacks accessibility by sustainable means of transport. The
means of access to the site along Three Houses Lane is unsuitable for the amount
and type of goods vehicles associated with the site and the conflict of this traffic with
other roads users including pedestrians and cyclists is likely to give rise to conditions
detrimental to highway safety. The development is therefore contrary to the National
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2024, Hertfordshire's Local Transport Plan
(LTP4) 2018 and Hertfordshire's Place & Movement Planning and Design Guide
(2024). The development is also contrary to the provisions of Policy T1 and SP6 of
the North Herts Local Plan 2011 - 2031.

The development, by reason of the general intensification and industrial use of the
site together with the increase in built form and associated heavy goods vehicular
movement , outdoor storage, parking, fencing, and general paraphernalia, results in
an adverse visual impact and consequent harmful effect on the character and
appearance of the area. The use is therefore contrary to the provisions of Policies
SP9, D1 and NE2 of the North Herts Local Plan 2011 - 2031 and Section 12 of the
National Planning Policy Framework.

and The use of the site for industrial purposes, particularly in terms of the floorspace
involved together with its rural location results in environmental harm that cannot be
suitably mitigated against. The use fails to meet the environmental objective required
to achieve sustainable development and therefore the use is contrary to the
provisions of SP1 of the Local Plan and Section 2 of the National Planning Policy

Framework 2024. page 34



Proactive Statement:

Planning permission has been refused for this proposal for the clear reasons set out
in this decision notice. The Council has not acted proactively through positive
engagement with the applicant as in the Council's view the proposal is unacceptable
in principle and the fundamental objections cannot be overcome through dialogue.
Since no solutions can be found the Council has complied with the requirements of
the Framework (paragraph 38) and in accordance with the Town and Country
Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015.

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



)€ abed

YA\

— T Croy
o / oy
[ th)()ci <:}]S?1?EE(511

PLAN VIEW (1:2500)

Scale this drawing for Planning purposes only.
Clients agent to be i of all di
Contractor to check all dimensions on site

es in dimensions

© This drawing is copyright

Denotes Trees,
Green Plants
or Branches Area

0‘ 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100

10 METRES @ SCALE OF 1/2500

ORIGINAL A3

D&A Architectural and Structural Designs Ltd

CLIENT

No Label London

Church Wood,
Three Houses Lane
Codicote,SG4 8TB

‘ DES'Gm ADDRESS
Ucmm
ARCHECTR

Unit 6,Hall Road, Hemel Hempstead HP27BH Tel:02085 737 684

PROJECT

THREE HOUSE

DRAWING
New
Site Plan

DATE SCALE

LANE ||11/12/2024| 1:2500

JOB No- Drawing No. REV

1000 GAOl2 |5




This page is intentionally left blank



	Agenda
	2 MINUTES 30 JANUARY 2025
	Minutes

	6 TPO/0215 Land on the North Side of Baldock Road, Royston, Herts, SG8 9NT
	Appendix 1
	Plan

	7 24/02343/FP Church Wood, Three Houses Lane, Codicote, Hertfordshire
	Plan
	Sheets and Views
	Model




